# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

City of Riverside, )	Case No. S198638
)	
)	
Plaintiff and Respondent,	
)	
v. )	
··	OUDDELLE
· )	SUPREME COURT
INLAND EMPIRE PATIENTS HEALTH )	FILFD
and WELLNESS CENTER Inc.; William J.)	
Sump II; Lanny D. Swerdlow; et al.	FEB <b>1 6</b> 2012
bump ii, Lamiy D. Swordiow, et al.	
,	Frederick K. Ohirich Clerk
Defendants / Amellants )	
Defendants / Appellants.	
	Deputy

APPEAL FROM ORDER GRANTING PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION

Honorable John D. Molloy, Judge Superior Court Riverside County

# **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

### LAW OFFICES OF J. DAVID NICK

**J. David Nick** (SB#157687)

#### INTRODUCTION

Inland Empire Patient's Health and Wellness Center ("IEPHWC"), J. William Sump II, Lanny D. Swerdlow and Angel West Inc. appealed the trial court's order granting a Preliminary Injunction issued on November 24, 2010. The injunction was based on the application of Respondent's municipal ordinance which bans all medical marijuana patient associations (a.k.a.: "collectives", "dispensaries", "cooperatives" and "cultivation projects") formed pursuant to the *Medical Marijuana Program* (See, *Health and Safety Code* §11362.775) from operating anywhere in the City of Riverside.

The preliminary injunction enjoins IEPHWC operations, finding their activities a nuisance per se. The preliminary injunction also prohibits appellants from engaging in activities authorized by said Health and Safety Code section, including providing authorized medical marijuana to IEPHWC's members pursuant to the *Medical Marijuana Program (section 11362.7 et seq.) ("MMP")*.

The ordinance at hand violates a consistent rule applied by this court; i.e., municipalities can't ban what state law permits. The legislature's <u>express</u> purpose behind the creation of the *MMP* was to "enhance the access" through these very institutions (i.e., "collectives") and assure "uniform" application of the *Medical Marijuana Program* throughout the counties of the State of California. (See, Legislature's preamble to *MMP*)

The consequence of Respondent's interpretation would be an absurd result not intended by the legislature and in <u>direct conflict</u> with its <u>express purpose</u>; the elimination of these institutions, city by city, until few are left or are concentrated in small pockets of the state-the exact opposite of what the legislature's goals were in enacting the *MMP*.

"If the preemption doctrine means anything, it means that a local entity may not pass an ordinance, the effect of which is to completely frustrate a broad, evolutional statutory regime enacted by the Legislature." (emphasis added) Fiscal v. City & Co. of San Francisco (2008) 158 Cal.App.4th 895, 911.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All further statutory references are to the Health and Safety Code unless otherwise stated.

#### PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On November 24, 2010 the trial court issued a preliminary injunction prohibiting appellants' activities undertaken pursuant to §11362.775. (Clerk's Transcript, "CT" 445) The trial court ruled that due to the existing federal ban on marijuana that respondent's ordinance was lawful and not preempted by the *Medical Marijuana Program (MMP)* and its prohibitions on local ordinances which are not "consistent" with the *MMP*. (Reporter's Transcript, hereinafter "RT" 22-24) (See, section 11362.83). The trial court additionally relied on City of Claremont v. Kruse (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 1153 as grounds for permitting a municipality to permanently ban otherwise state sanctioned and encouraged conduct under the MMP. (RT 10)

On December 20, 2010 the Court of Appeal issued a stay of the trial court's preliminary injunction and on March 2, 2011 it granted a Writ of Supersedeas staying the preliminary injunction.

#### STEMENT OF APPEALABILITY

This is an appealable order granting a preliminary injunction. Code of Civil Procedure  $\S 904.1(a)(6)$ . The notice of appeal was filed timely. (CT 446)

#### **FACTS**

IEPHWC is a not for profit California Mutual Benefit Corporation established for the sole purpose of forming an association of qualified individuals who collectively cultivate medical marijuana and redistribute to each other; it has been in operation at the same location since December 2009. Its principal board members, Mr. Joseph William Sump II and Mr. Lanny D. Swerdlow are also appellants here.

IEPHWC is located in a commercial zone within the City of Riverside (647 Main Street, Suite 2-A); this zone generally permits medical uses and has alternatively been described by Respondent as a "Business and Manufacturing Park Zone District". (CT p.278, 273, 52, 4). IEPHWC selected this location as it is more than 1000 feet from any school or church. IEPHWC strictly adheres to multiple policies which are implemented to ensure compliance with all state law and local sheriff policies on the subject, including

adhering to the State Attorney General's Guidelines for The Security and Non Diversion of Medical Marijuana. (CT p.279, 277-281, 299, 302, 304, 306, 452)

Community activities IEPHWC participate in have been recognized by local officials in the community. (CT 275)

IEPHWC has also created a "farmer's market" approach as a means of providing medical marijuana at the lowest price possible. (CT 275)

IEPHWC maintains a strict policy of not disturbing neighbors or interfering in any manner with the operation and functions of any surrounding businesses; nor have they ever been known to maintain a nuisance. (CT 279) Prior to opening, IEPHWC officials consulted with the local city council. (CT 278) On January 5, 2009 the city responded that it had "create[d] a definition of medical marijuana dispensaries and <u>prohibits</u> this use anywhere in the City". (CT 59-60)

On May 20, 2010 respondent filed a complaint for injunctive relief "TO ABATE A NUISANCE". The complaint specifically relied on *Civil Code §§3479, 3480, 3491, 3494* and *City of Riverside Municipal Code §§1.01.110, 6.15.020, 19.150.020* and 19.070.020. (CT 1). Respondent alleged a theory of nuisance per se. (CT 4, paragraph 20, 27 of Verified Complaint; CT 150, 154, Motion for Preliminary injunction). Angel City West is the property management company for the building IEPHWC occupies. (CT 2)

Respondent was attempting to enforce *Riverside Municipal Code §19.150.020* which listed all permissible land uses, "strictly prohibited" any use which was "prohibited by ...federal law" and declared that uses not listed "in Tables are prohibited" and that the city's table of uses also identified uses "specifically prohibited". (CT 149, 201) The city's table of permissible uses expressly listed "medical marijuana dispensary" as a "Prohibited Use" in every part of the city. (CT 207)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The complaint was amended on June 10, 2010 to add "William Joseph Sump II" (CT 71) and on August 19, 2010 to correctly name "Does 2" as "Inland Empire Health and Wellness Center, Inc.". (CT 138)

On August 30, 2010 respondent filed a motion for preliminary injunction. (CT 143) Respondent maintained that despite California law on the subject, the city expressly forbids any activities which are illegal under federal law and thus appellants are a nuisance per se. (CT 149-150) The motion was supported by the declaration of Darren Woolley, of the City of Riverside Police Department. (CT 158, 159). Woolley's declaration sought to establish there was a connection between the clinic Swerdlow is a nurse at and IEPHWC; he attempted to do so by indicating they were in the immediate vicinity of each other and IEPHWC was one of the many collectives he was referred to at the clinic. (CT 159)

No evidence, at all, was submitted by respondent (in support of their motion for a preliminary injunction) or is in this record that in any manner tied Angel City West Inc. to any of the activities of IEPHWC, Swerdlow or Sump.

On October 1, 2010 appellants IEPHWC, Sump, Swerdlow and Angel City West filed an opposition to the motion for preliminary injunction. (CT 250) Woolley's declaration was contradicted in material parts by both Swerdlow's declaration (CT 273) and Sump's declaration (CT 277) in support of the opposition to the motion for preliminary injunction. Their respective declarations (especially that of Sump) set out in great detail the operating procedures of IEPHWC, attached relevant documents as exhibits and provided details about the interactions with Woolley. (CT 273-275, 277-342).

Appellant's argued that the city's ban on medical marijuana patient associations formed pursuant to section 11362.775 was preempted by the MMP (CT 257), unlawful under section 11362.83 (CT 254-255) as a local ordinance not "consistent" with the MMP, and that their federal law dichotomy justification violated the holding in Qualified Patients Association v. City of Anaheim (2010) 187 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 734 as well as the California Constitution's Article III, §3.5. (CT 266-267)

On October 18, 2010 respondent filed a reply to appellant's opposition; therein respondent elected to remain completely silent with respect to appellant's argument that the city's federal law dichotomy justification for their total ban on collectives was

unlawful. Instead the city only responded to appellant's arguments regarding state law preemption. (CT 343) Respondent even acknowledged at the hearing on the motion that this court's opinion in *Qualified Patients Association v. City of Anaheim* was "limited...to federal preemption" and exclusively prohibited the federal dichotomy justification as a means for a municipality to ban the conduct. (RT 11) Respondent nevertheless maintained that they were compelled *under Government Code section 37100* to not permit any conduct unlawful under federal law. (RT 22) The city never offered evidence of criminal acts and neighborhood deterioration which was specific to any one appellant.

On November 24, 2010 the trial court heard arguments from both sides and ruled the preliminary injunction would issue. (RT 22-24) The trial court's written order prohibited appellants from "conducting **any** activities or operations related to the distribution of marijuana". (CT 445) The injunction additionally prohibited Angel City West Inc. from "renting" the property "for such activities". (CT 445)

#### HISTORICAL PERSPECTIVE

California, first through a voter proposition in 1996 (Compassionate Use Act) and in 2003 through state legislation (MMP), decided to part ways with the federal government's intolerance with marijuana use for medical treatment.

The Legislature's principle purpose was; to 1) "Promote uniform and consistent application of the act among the counties within the state" and 2) "Enhance the access of patients and caregivers to medical marijuana through collective, cooperative cultivation projects." (2003 Cal SB 420 § 1; 2003 Cal ALS 875; See, Legislature's preamble to the *MMP*).

The Legislature's express purpose behind the creation of the *MMP*, as shall be discussed in greater detail *infra*, are central to appellant's arguments before this court.

California's parting with their federal counterpart was the culmination of years of federal litigation in an attempt to reclassify marijuana from a Schedule I drug to a Schedule II (thus, allowing the prescribing of the substance by medical doctors); this federal litigation to reclassify marijuana was conducted before the administrative court of the Department of Justice and included receipt of substantial evidence on the subject. At

the conclusion the administrative judge issued a 68 page opinion on the issue finding that the overwhelming evidence supports marijuana's medical efficacy, stating:

"The Judge realizes that strong emotions are aroused on both sides of any discussion concerning the use of marijuana. Nonetheless it is essential for this Agency, and its Administrator, calmly and dispassionately to review the evidence of record, correctly apply the law, and act accordingly....

The evidence in this record clearly shows that marijuana has been accepted as capable of relieving the distress of great numbers of very ill people, and doing so with safety under medical supervision. It would be unreasonable, arbitrary and capricious for DEA to continue to stand between those sufferers and the benefits of this substance in light of the evidence in this record."

See, In The Matter Of MARIJUANA RESCHEDULING PETITION (1988, UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE Drug Enforcement Administration Administrative Court, Docket No. 86-22)

In 1989 the Administrator of the federal Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA), rejected the Administrative Law Judge's decision. See, 54 FR 53767 and eventually led to California's break with the federal government in 1996 with passage of "The Compassionate Use Act".

As stated by Judge Kozinski in his concurring opinion in *Conant v. Walters (9th Cir. 2002) 309 F.3d 629*;

"Those immediately and directly affected by the federal government's policy are the patients, who will be denied information crucial to their well-being, and the State of California, whose policy of exempting certain patients from the sweep of its drug laws will be thwarted. In my view, it is the vindication of these latter interests--those of the patients and of the state--that primarily justifies the district court's highly unusual exercise of discretion in enjoining the federal defendants from even investigating possible violations of the federal criminal laws."

Conant v. Walters, supra., 309 F.3d at 640.

California has put in place through the *MMP* an entire statutory scheme covering dozens of related issues to assure that its policy decisions are carried out. (See, *Section 11362.775*). Respondent's ordinance denies individuals the ability to obtain state sanctioned medication through the means authorized by *§11362.775*; thus, raising an imaginary blockade around respondent's city thwarting the State's policy.

# WHEN A CHALLENGE IS PRESENTED TO THE VALIDITY OF AN ORDINANCE RELIED UPON TO OBTAIN PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION A FINDING THE ORDINANCE IS UNLAWFUL REQUIRES REVERSAL OF THE PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION.

"[w]here the 'likelihood of prevailing on the merits' factor depends upon a question of law ... the standard of review is not abuse of discretion but whether the superior court correctly interpreted and applied [the] law,...." *Efstratis v. First Northern Bank (1997) 59 Cal.App.4th 667, 671–672*; An injunction based on an unconstitutional ordinance exceeds the issuing court's jurisdiction. *Welton v. Los Angeles (1976) 18 Cal. 3d 497, 507* 

Respondent's ordinance prohibits "medical marijuana dispensaries" (respondent's label) from operating within the city. (See, Riverside Municipal Code § 19.150.020(A) (permitted uses) and §19.910.140 (defining "medical marijuana dispensary"). The term "association" or "collectives" comports with the words in §11362.775.

Respondent maintains that in creating the *MMP* the Legislature did not <u>expressly</u> prohibit cities from totally banning said institutions under the cities traditional "police power". Under that theory, respondent maintains, medical marijuana collectives may be completely and permanently excluded from existence within the city.

Respondent's total ban on medical marijuana collectives violates *Cal. Const., art.* XI, §7 as it is "in conflict with general laws" and violates §11362.83 requirement that local ordinances be "consistent" with the MMP. "[B]y enacting an outright, unconditional ban on the administration of [medical marijuana] within its borders", N. Cal. Psychiatric Society v. City of Berkeley (1986) 178 Cal.App.3d 90, at 103-104 [striking down municipal ban on medical treatment authorized by state law], respondent "has created an apparent conflict with the state legislative statutory scheme and its guarantee to all..." (Id. at 103-104) of "uniform application of the law", of "enhanced access" to medical cannabis, of the right to "associate" in order to obtain medical cannabis and the ability to form collectives as encouraged by the Legislature in the statutes of the MMP and the preamble containing the

Legislature's express purpose. (see, Legislature's preamble to MMP, Stats 2003 ch 875; section 11362.775.)

"A county or city may make and enforce within its limits all local, police, sanitary, and other ordinances and regulations not in conflict with general laws." (Cal. Const., art. XI, § 7, italics original.) "Local legislation in conflict with general law is void." Morehart v. County of Santa Barbara (1994) 7 Cal.4th 725, 747. "The evident intention of the clause above quoted was to prevent any confusion, or discord, or incongruity between the general legislation of the state in its broad sovereign capacity and the special legislation of its dependent municipalities." Ex parte Cambell (1887) 74 Cal. 20, 27 (Justice Thomas B. McFarland, dissenting) The interpretation pressed by respondent would prohibit the state legislature from implementing unpopular policies it seeks to uniformly apply throughout the state leading to municipal anarchy.

The definition of "conflict" within Cal. Const., art. XI, § 7 necessarily includes a broad concept that may not seem like "conflict" in the dictionary sense. "The invalidity arises not from a conflict of language but from the inevitable conflict of jurisdiction which would result from dual regulations covering the same ground. Only by such a broad definition of "conflict" is it possible to confine local legislation to its proper field of supplementary regulation." People v. Villarino, (1955) 134 Cal. App. 2d Supp. 893, 897

// // //

//

//

//

//

 $/\!/$ 

// //

#### II.

# LOCAL ORDINANCES & ENFORCEMENT PROCEDURES WHICH CONFLICT WITH STATE LAW ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL AND VOID AS PREEMPTED.

A. THE MEDICAL MARIJUANA PROGRAM ACT PERMITS THE DISPENSATION OF MARIJUANA BY ASSOCIATIONS AND COLLECTIVES FOR MEDICAL PURPOSES TO QUALIFIED PATIENTS AND EXEMPTS THEM FROM LOCAL NUISANCE ABATEMENT ORDINANCES.

It is customary for proponents of this ban to refer to decisions which interpreted the more narrower voter enacted proposition (*Compassionate Use Act*, "CUA"). Those decisions should be confined to historical perspective and when employed that distinction noted as the law evolved thereafter; this is due to the "dramatic change in the law" (*People v. Urziceanu*, (2004) 132 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 747, 785) which the passage of the MMP brought about when compared to the narrow rights under the CUA. Much of the language cited by respondent regarding the "narrow nature of the law" rely on cases merely interpreting the <u>CUA</u>. Thus, respondent's continued attempt to label the MMP as a "narrow" criminal defense and nothing more is simply not correct-it is a broad statutory scheme covering dozens of related topics and seeking to implement its purpose.

The Legislature declared their **intent** in enacting the MMP was to:

- "(b)(2) Promote uniform and consistent application of the act among the counties within the state.
- (3) Enhance the access of patients and caregivers to medical marijuana through collective, cooperative cultivation projects."

(2003 Cal SB 420 § 1; 2003 Cal ALS 875.)

The MMP contains § 11362.775, which states,

"Qualified patients, persons with valid identification cards, and the designated primary caregivers of qualified patients and persons with identification cards, who associate within the State of California in order to collectively or cooperatively to cultivate marijuana for medical purposes, shall not solely on the basis of that fact be subject to state criminal sanctions under Section 11357, 11358, 11359, 11360, 11366, 11366.5, or 11570." (emphasis added)

The court of appeal in *People v. Urziceanu* (2004) 132 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 747, 785, articulated that it was the intent of the Legislature in enacting §11362.775 to exempt qualified patients and primary caregivers from specific Health and Safety Code violations listed therein which previously prevented the lawful dispensation of medical cannabis "and the laws declaring the use of property for these purposes a nuisance." (*Urziceanu supra*, at 785) (emphasis added).) *Urziceanu* pointed out that the enactment of the *MMP* signified a "dramatic change in the law" (*Urziceanu, supra, at 785*) in that the *CUA* did not permit distribution and now at the request of the voters (see, §11362.5 subd. (b)(1)(C)) the Legislature created a distribution system. (*See, People v. Urziceanu (2004) 132 Cal.App.4*th 747, 785.)

"The Legislature extended certain protections to individuals. Those protections included immunity from prosecution for a number of marijuana-related offenses that had not been specified in the CUA, among them...11570 [abatement of nuisance created by premises used for manufacture, storage or distribution of controlled substance]." (citations omitted) By authorizing a CUA defense to these other marijuana-related offenses, the Legislature furthered its goal of "address[ing] additional issues that were not included within the act, and that must be resolved in order to promote the fair and orderly implementation of the act." (Stats. 2003, ch. 875, § 1.)..."

People v. Wright (2006) 40 Cal. 4th 81, 93.

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