SUPREME COURT FILED

APR 2 7 2012

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Supreme Court of California

CITY OF RIVERSIDE,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

INLAND EMPIRE PATIENT'S HEALTH and WELLNESS CENTER, INC., et al.

Defendants and Petitioners.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal
Fourth Appellate District, Division Two
Case No. E052400 (Riverside County Superior Court Case No. RIC10009872 Honorable John D. Molloy)

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ATTORNEY LIST, CONTINUED FROM FIRST PAGE

Gregory P. Priamos, Bar No. 136766 gpriamos@riversideca.gov
James E. Brown, Bar No. 162579 jbrown@riversideca.gov
Neil Okazaki, Bar No. 201367 nokazaki@riversideca.gov
OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In adopting the Compassionate Use Act ("CUA"; Health & Saf.

Code, § 11362.5) and the Medical Marijuana Program Act ("MMPA,"

Health & Saf. Code, § 11362.7), the Legislature provided that persons who engage in certain medical marijuana activities are not subject to criminal

liability under specified provisions of California law that impose such criminal liability. The CUA and the MMPA thus preempt, at most, the authority of local governments to criminalize conduct that the statutes expressly authorize. The CUA and the MMPA do not, however, preempt the traditional authority of local governments under their police power to adopt zoning and land use ordinances defining certain activities as nuisances, at least to the extent that the ordinances do not criminalize conduct that is specifically authorized under these statutes. Thus, the CUA and the MMPA do not preempt local laws that, as in this case, prohibit the establishment of marijuana dispensaries on the ground that they are a nuisance subject to abatement under the civil laws. Neither the CUA nor the MMPA specifically authorizes the establishment of marijuana dispensaries, much less preempts, or evinces an intent to preempt, local

²The CUA and MMPA do not, strictly speaking, "authorize" anything. As noted, they merely exempt certain conduct from identified state criminal statutes, which is not the same thing. Such exemptions from state criminal penalties do not, as a general rule, prohibit cities and counties from criminalizing the exempted conduct by local ordinance. (See Nordyke v. King (2002) 27 Cal.4th 875, 883-884; People v. Commons (1944) 64 Cal.App.2d Supp. 925, 929-039 ["neither law nor ordinance contains any provision in any way authorizing or declaring lawful the acts which are specified in any exception thereto. As to such acts, the situation is simply that they are not prohibited by the enactment containing the exception. Consequently, a prohibition of such excepted acts contained in the other enactment does not conflict with the enactment in which the exception appears"].) However, it is unnecessary to explore, in this case, whether local agencies may criminalize conduct specifically "authorized" by the CUA and MMPA, because as discussed in greater detail below, Riverside's ordinance does no such thing.

laws banning such dispensaries. Even under Petitioners' broadest construction, marijuana dispensaries are merely one mode of "collectively or cooperatively . . . cultivat[ing] marijuana for medical purposes"; nothing in the CUA or MMPA singles out this mode for special favor, or prohibits local agencies from civilly regulating the intensity of collective cultivation as a land use by prohibiting this particular practice.) The Legislature thus preserved the traditional authority of local governments to ban certain kinds of establishments, such as marijuana dispensaries, that are defined as a nuisance under local zoning and land use laws.

This conclusion is supported not only by the MMPA itself, but also by legislative amendments of the MMPA in 2010 and 2011. One amendment provides that local governments are not precluded from adopting ordinances that "further restrict" the "location or establishment" of marijuana dispensaries (Health & Saf. Code § 11362.768, subd. (f))³, and the other amendment provides that local governments are not precluded from adopting ordinances that "regulate" the "location, operation, or establishment" of marijuana cooperatives and collectives. (*Id.* at § 11362.83). By authorizing local governments to "regulate" and "further restrict" not only the location and operation of marijuana dispensaries but also their "establishment," the amendments plainly authorize local

³All statutory references are to the Health and Safety Code unless otherwise indicated.

governments to prohibit such dispensaries under their zoning and land use laws. The legislative history of the amendments reaffirms that the Legislature did not preempt, or intend to preempt, local authority to regulate and ban marijuana dispensaries.

The conclusion that the CUA and the MMPA do not preempt local laws banning marijuana dispensaries is supported by the general rules of preemption adopted by this Court. Under these general rules, state laws presumptively do not preempt local laws—particularly in areas traditionally regulated by local governments—in the absence of a reasonably clear expression of legislative intent. (Action Apartment Assn. Inc. v. City of Santa Monica (2007) 41 Cal.4th 1232, 1242; Big Creek Lumber Co. v. County of Santa Cruz (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1139, 1150.) Neither the CUA nor the MMPA contains any indication, clear or otherwise, of any legislative intent to preempt local laws banning medical marijuana dispensaries. On the contrary, the statutes, read in light of their language and legislative history, plainly evince a legislative intent to preserve the traditional authority of local governments to adopt zoning and land use laws regulating, and if appropriate banning, medical marijuana dispensaries.

Finally, to the extent there are any questions as to whether the CUA and MMPA somehow preempted local land use regulatory authority, they must be resolved against any interpretation that requires local entities to sanction medical marijuana facilities. This is because such an interpretation

necessarily runs afoul of the federal Controlled Substances Act ("CSA"; 21 U.S.C. § 801 et seq.) and would require the invalidation of the state provisions under the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution. The CSA expressly prohibits the distribution of marijuana, for medical or other purposes. (21 U.S.C. § 841, subd. (a)(1).) Thus, if the CUA and the MMPA were read to require local governments to allow marijuana dispensaries to operate, state and federal law would stand at loggerheads, with state law requiring of the City precisely what federal law prohibits. Indeed, the Petitioners frankly acknowledge that the CUA and the MMPA are in conflict with the CSA, but assert that the State of California has the right to reject Congress's policy on the subject of marijuana distribution. This is simply incorrect: Federal law is, as the United States Supreme Court has elaborated for over a century, part and parcel of state law. And because these state law provisions, interpreted as Petitioners urge, "create a positive conflict" with the CSA "so that the two cannot consistently stand together" (21 U.S.C. § 903), and constitute an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of Congress's full purposes and objectives. federal preemption is the inevitable result. As a basic principle of statutory construction, this court will not construe a statute in a manner that renders it inconsistent with the federal constitution. The only way to avoid running afoul of the CSA and hence the Supremacy Clause, is to interpret the CUA and the MMPA as the California Legislature plainly intended them to be

construed, that is, as not preempting local governments from exercising their traditional authority to prohibit marijuana dispensaries under their zoning and land use laws.

ARGUMENT

- II. THE CITY OF RIVERSIDE'S ORDINANCE PROHIBITING
 THE ESTABLISHMENT OF MEDICAL MARIJUANA
 DISPENSARIES IS NOT PREEMPTED BY STATE LAW.
 - A. Under General Principles Of Preemption, State Laws
 Presumptively Do Not Preempt Local Laws In Areas
 Traditionally Regulated By Local Governments, Such As
 Zoning And Land Use.

Under article XI, section 7 of the California Constitution, "[a] city or county may make and enforce within its limits all local, police, sanitary, and other ordinances and regulations not in conflict with the general laws." A city or county is authorized under its police power to adopt regulations designed to "promote the public convenience or the general prosperity, as well as regulations designed to promote the public health, the public morals, or the public safety." (*Chicago, B. & Q. R. Co. v. Illinois* (1906) 200 U.S. 561, 592.)

Under its police power, a city or county is authorized to adopt zoning and business licensing regulations, including regulations restricting the use of land. (Cal. Const., art. XI, § 7; *Big Creek Lumber Co., supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 1151.) "[T]he power of cities and counties to zone land use in accordance with local conditions is well entrenched." (*Big Creek Lumber*,

at p. 1152, quoting *IT Corp. v. Solano County Bd. of Supervisors* (1991) 1 Cal.4th 81, 89.) "[A] city's power to control its own land use decisions derives from this inherent police power, not from the delegation of authority by the state." (*DeVita v. County of Napa* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 763, 782.) The City of Riverside acted pursuant to its police power, as authorized under article XI, section 7 of the Constitution, in banning medical marijuana dispensaries within its limits.

This Court has repeatedly held that state laws presumptively do not preempt or displace local laws adopted pursuant to the police power, particularly local laws governing subjects and areas traditionally regulated by local governments, such as zoning and land use regulation. (Big Creek Lumber, supra, 38 Cal.4th at pp. 1149-1150; Sherwin-Williams Co. v. City of Los Angeles (1993) 4 Cal.4th 893, 897; Candid Enterprises, Inc. v. Grossmont Union High School Dist. (1985) 39 Cal.3d 878, 885.) "[W]hen local government regulates in an area over which it traditionally exercised control, such as the location of particular land uses, California courts will presume, absent a clear indication of preemptive intent from the Legislature, that such regulation is not preempted by state statute." (Big Creek Lumber, at p. 1149 [emphasis added]; see Action Apartment, supra, 41 Cal.4th at p. 1242.) "In enacting zoning ordinances, the municipality performs a legislative function, and every intendment is in favor of the validity of such ordinances." (Big Creek Lumber, at p. 1151, quoting

Lockard v. City of Los Angeles (1949) 33 Cal.2d 453, 460.)

The Legislature, "when enacting state zoning laws, has declared its 'intention to provide only a minimum of limitation in order that counties and cities may exercise the maximum degree of control over local zoning matters." (*Big Creek Lumber*, *supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 1151, quoting *DeVita v. County of Napa, supra*, 9 Cal.4th at p. 782, quoting Gov. Code, § 65800.)⁴ Additionally, the Legislature has recognized that a city may, by legislative declaration, determine what activities or conditions constitute a nuisance. (Gov. Code, § 38771; see also *Amusing Sandwich, Inc. v. City of Palm Springs* (1985) 165 Cal.App.3d 1116, 1129.)

Local governments are traditionally responsible for regulating zoning, and their local zoning ordinances are presumed to be valid.

(Stubblefield Construction Co. v. City of San Bernardino (1995) 32

Cal.App.4th 687, 713.) "The party claiming that general state law preempts a local ordinance has the burden of demonstrating preemption."

[Citation.]" (Action Apartment, supra, 41 Cal.4th at p. 1242.)

⁴ Government Code section 65800 provides: "It is the purpose of this chapter [*i.e.*, Chapter 4, Zoning Regulations] to provide for the adoption and administration of zoning law, ordinances, rules and regulations by counties and cities, as well as to implement such general plan as may be in effect in any such county and city. Except as provided in Article 4 (commencing with Section 65910 [open space zoning ordinance] and in Section 65913.1 [zoning sufficient land for residential use] the Legislature declares that in enacting this chapter it is its intention to provide only a minimum of limitation in order that counties and cities may exercise the maximum degree of control over local zoning matters."

The Court has "identified three types of conflict that cause preemption: a conflict exists if the local legislation duplicates, contradicts, or enters an area fully occupied by general law, either expressly or by legislative implication." (Action Apartment, supra, 41 Cal.4th at p. 1242) [citations and internal quotation marks omitted]; Sherwin-Williams, supra. 4 Cal.4th at pp. 897-898.) "Implied preemption occurs when: (1) general law so completely covers the subject as to clearly indicate the matter is exclusively one of state concern; (2) general law partially covers the subject in terms clearly indicating a paramount state concern that will not tolerate further local action; or (3) general law partially covers the subject and the adverse effect of a local ordinance on transient citizens of the state outweighs the possible municipal benefit." (Big Creek Lumber, supra, 38 Cal.4th at pp. 1157-1158.) As one court has stated: "We are reluctant to invoke the doctrine of implied preemption. Since preemption depends upon legislative intent, such a situation necessarily begs the question of why, if preemption was legislatively intended, the Legislature did not simply say so, as the Legislature has done many times in many circumstances." (Garcia v. Four Points Sheraton LAX (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 364, 374.)

As this brief will explain, the CUA and the MMPA do not "occupy the field" of regulation of medical marijuana dispensaries, and local laws prohibiting the establishment of such dispensaries do not "contradict" any provision of the CUA or MMPA. Thus, the CUA and the MMPA do not preempt the City of Riverside's ordinance banning such dispensaries within its limits.

- B. The Compassionate Use Act And The Medical Marijuana
 Program Act Do Not Preempt The City Of Riverside's
 Zoning Regulation Banning Medical Marijuana
 Dispensaries.
 - 1. The CUA And The MMPA Provide Immunity From Criminal Liability For Violations Of Specified Provisions Of The Health And Safety Code.

Under sections 11357 and 11358, any person who possesses or cultivates marijuana in California is subject to criminal liability. In 1996, the voters of California approved Proposition 215, entitled the "Compassionate Use Act of 1996" ("CUA"), which provides that persons who possess or cultivate marijuana are immune from criminal liability under sections 11357 and 11358.⁵ The CUA provides:

Section 11357, relating to the possession of marijuana, and Section 11358, relating to the cultivation of marijuana, shall not apply to a

⁵The CUA's stated purposes are to (1) "ensure that seriously ill Californians have the right to obtain and use marijuana for medical purposes where that medical use is deemed appropriate and has been recommended by a physician who has determined that the person's health would benefit from the use of marijuana"; (2) "ensure that patients and their primary caregivers who obtain and use marijuana for medical purposes upon the recommendation of a physician are not subject to criminal prosecution or sanction"; and (3) "encourage the federal and state governments to implement a plan to provide for the safe and affordable distribution of marijuana to all patients in medical needs of marijuana." (§§ 11362.5, subd. (b)(1)(A), -(B), -(C).

patient, or to a patient's primary caregiver, who possesses or cultivates marijuana for the medical purposes of the patient upon the written or oral recommendation or approval of a physician.

(§ 11362.5, subd. (d).) Thus, the CUA provides that persons who possess or cultivate marijuana as provided in the statute are not subject to criminal liability.

In 2003, the Legislature enacted the MMPA in order to clarify and implement the CUA. (§§ 11362.7 et seq.)⁶ The MMPA provides that the State Department of Health Services shall establish a "voluntary program" for the issuance of identification cards to qualified patients and primary caregivers (§ 11362.71); establishes guidelines for defining a "qualified patient" and a "primary caregiver" (§ 11362.7); limits the amount of medical marijuana that can be used (§ 11362.77); limits the areas where medical marijuana can be used (§ 11362.79); and precludes licensing

The MMPA's stated purposes are to "[c]larify the scope of the application of the [CUA] and facilitate the prompt identification of qualified patients and their designated primary caregivers in order to avoid unnecessary arrest and prosecution of these individuals and provide needed guidance to law enforcement officers"; "[p]romote uniform and consistent application of the act among the counties within the state . . ."; and "[e]nhance the access of patients and caregivers to medical marijuana through collective, cooperative cultivation projects." (Stats., 2003, ch. 875, § 1.) The MMPA is intended "to address additional issues that were not included within the [Compassionate Use Act], and that must be resolved in order to promote the fair and orderly implementation of the act." (*Id*.)

In *People v. Kelly* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1008, the Court held the limits were "unconstitutionally amendatory insofar as it limits an in-court CUA defense."

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